Public Document Pack

Despatch Date: Thursday 4 October 2018

Individual Cabinet Member Decision
Making - Planning Services
Friday, 12 October 2018
9.15 am in Committee Room 2, Civic Centre, High Street, Esher
_________________________

Fire Precautions:
(To be read from the Chair if members of the public are present)
In the event of the fire alarm sounding, leave the room immediately. Proceed
downstairs by way of the main stairs or follow any of the emergency exit
signs. Leave the building and follow the signs to the fire assembly point in
the Civic Centre Car Park Recycling Area.

Page 1

Please Note: The Council permits the filming and/or recording of the public element
of its meetings. Electronic equipment and devices should be operated as
unobtrusively as possible and without disruption to the business of the meeting. The
Council retains copyright in all recordings. Filmed images should not be used or
reproduced in a way that misrepresents or distorts the nature of the proceedings or
seeks to lower the public reputation of the Council or an individual.
This meeting may also be filmed by the Council, broadcast live and subsequently
retained as an archive on the Council’s website (www.elmbridge.gov.uk). The images
and sound recording may be used for the purposes of public record or for training
purposes. Entry to the meeting room and use of the public seating area will be
treated as consent to being filmed.
Members of the public are also asked to ensure their mobile phones are switched off
during the course of the meeting, as they can interfere with the induction loop system
and interrupt the proceedings.
Free O2 wifi is available in all civic committee meeting rooms, including the council
chamber, for all to access.
Thank you for your co-operation.
Page 2

Access to Historical Information Relating to Reports
Please note that the items within this Agenda will usually have an historical context
and therefore may have been considered previously by the Council, Cabinet or its
Committees. Whilst reports appearing on this Agenda will include a background
summary, Members may wish to appraise themselves of the more detailed historical
context and to do this may wish to view previous reports / minutes on the matter
which are available via the Council’s website: www.elmbridge.gov.uk or intranet,
either by searching on the relevant topic or by committee reports. Copies of
particular reports can be provided on request from the Democratic Services contact
shown on the front of the Agenda.

Part I Items
Page Nos.

1.

Declarations of Interest
All Members present are required to declare, at this point in the meeting
or as soon as possible thereafter
(i)
(ii)

any disclosable pecuniary interests and / or
other interests arising under the Code of Conduct

in respect of any item(s) of business being considered at this meeting.
Planning Services – Councillor J.W. Browne
2.

Draft Development Management Advice Note 1: Understanding
Housing Need Draft Development Management Advice Note 2:
Optimising Development Land

5 - 14

3.

Draft Exemption of Small Sites & the Vacant Building Credit
Statement- Update September 2018

15 - 38

Contact Officer: Mrs. T. Hulse Direct Line: 01372 474175

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2.
Committee:

Individual Cabinet Member Decision Making – Planning Services

Date of meeting: 12 October 2018
Subject:

Lead Officer:
Portfolio Holder:
Link to Council Priorities:
Exempt information:
Delegated status:
Key decision:

Draft Development Management Advice Note 1:
Understanding Housing Need
Draft Development Management Advice Note 2:
Optimising Development Land
Alex Kantepudi-Bird, Senior Planning Officer
Councillor James Browne, Portfolio Holder for
Planning Services
P1
None
For Resolution
No

Executive Summary:
This report introduces the Draft Development Management Advice Note 1:
Understanding Housing Need and a Draft Development Management Advice
Note 2: Optimising Development Land. These notes have been prepared to assist
applicants, planning agents and developers on key matters arising through the Local
Plan preparation.
Local Plan Working Group agreed on 25 September 2018 that approval should be
sought from the Portfolio Holder to publish the Development Management Advice
Note 1: Understanding Housing Need and Development Management Advice
Note 2: Optimising Development Land on the Council’s website.
Recommendation: that the Cabinet Member for Planning Services:


approve the Development Management Advice Note 1: Understanding
Housing Need and Development Management Advice Note 2: Optimising
Development Land for publication on the Council’s Website following a
two week call-in period.

Report:
1

Background and purpose of the advice notes

1.1

These draft development management advice notes form part of a series of
notes being prepared to assist applicants, planning agents and developers on
key matters arising through the Local Plan preparation.

1.2

The Local Plan evidence base and local housing need figure is clear that
there is high demand for new homes and there is a limited supply of housing
land within the Borough. Therefore, it is vital that all developments going
forward positively contribute towards meeting local housing need, in terms of
type, size and tenure. Furthermore, it is essential that development land in the
Borough is efficiently utilised.

Page 5

1.3

The advice notes do not introduce new policy or change existing policy as the
current local policies are sufficiently flexible but advise applicants, planning
agents and developers of the material considerations and the current national
planning policy.

1.4

The advice notes outline the expectations for new residential schemes
coming forward and provide initial guidance on how new proposals can
respond to local development needs. The advice notes also seek to
demonstrate at the forthcoming Local Plan ‘examination in public’, that the
Council is responding positively to the challenge of housing delivery not only
in policy making through the new Local Plan but also in decision making on
individual planning applications.

2

Development Management advice notes

2.1

The draft Development Management Advice Note 1: Understanding Housing
Need explains what the local housing need is and how the Council is
approaching this matter in assessing planning applications.

2.2

Through the publication of the revised NPPF (July 2018), the Government has
made it clear that Council’s without an up-to-date local plan should start using
the Government's standard method for assessing housing need immediately
when determining applications. This statement applies to Elmbridge. The
current published Local Housing Need Figure for the Borough is 612 homes
per year, a significant increase from the previous identified need figure set out
in the Kingston and North Surrey Strategic Housing Market Assessment
(SHMA) (2016).

2.3

However, the qualitative information from the SHMA remains relevant as it
outlines the ‘right ’type of homes required. The SHMA identified an
overwhelming need for smaller homes (1 to 3 bedrooms), indeed the
provision of smaller homes is vital for widening the choice of homes within the
Borough. As demonstrated in the Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) (20162017), past delivery of new homes in the Borough has been dominated by
large, four or more bedroomed properties. Going forward, this size of home
does not make a positive contribution towards meeting local housing need.

2.4

The limited supply of land and available sites in the Borough means it is
essential that every site coming forward for residential development positively
contributes towards the new homes that the Borough needs. Those proposals
which do not meet local housing need in terms of size and type will have to be
justified with appropriate relevant evidence.

2.5

The draft Development Management Advice Note 2: Optimising Development
Land sets out the Council’s approach to ensuring the limited development
land within the Borough is optimised. The revised NPPF provides strong
policy direction that development land is to be optimised especially where this
would help meet housing and need where land supply is constrained.

Page 6

2.6

The limited land supply and significant need for new homes is likely to lead to
a conflicting demand from different uses. The Local Plan evidence shows
there is still a need to protect and enhance employment land and competing
demands will have to be balanced. It may mean that in some locations there
could be an increase in mixed use schemes coming forward in the Borough.

2.7

Each development proposal will need to be carefully assessed to ensure that
it represents the most efficient use of that site. The Council should resist
proposals that fail to optimise the capacity of the site.

2.8

The existing policies support development proposals that are design-led, of a
high quality and that respect local character. To enable the optimisation of
land and to respond to local housing needs development schemes will be
innovative but it will be possible to accommodate smaller units and utilise
higher densities without detrimentally affecting the character of an area.

3

Conclusion

3.1

Formal member approval is sought to publish the Development Management
Advice Notes as set out in Appendix A and Appendix B of this report following
a two-week call-in period.

Financial implications:
None for the purpose of this report.
Environmental implications:
None for the purpose of this report.
Legal implications:
None for the purpose of this report.
Equality Implications:
None for the purpose of this report.
Risk Management Implications:
None for the purpose of this report.
Community Safety Implications:
None for the purpose of this report.
Background papers:
None
Enclosures/Appendices:
Appendix A – Draft Development Management Advice Note 1: Understanding
Housing Need in Elmbridge.
Appendix B –Draft Development Management Advice Note 2: Optimising
Development Land
Contact details:
Alex Kantepudi-Bird –Senior Planning Policy Officer - 01372 474834
AKBird@elmbridge.gov.uk

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Draft Development Management
Advice Note 1: Understanding
Housing Need
September 2018

Purpose of the Advice Note
This note is one of series of advice notes produced to assist applicants and their agents when considering
proposals for new homes in Elmbridge during the preparation of the new Local Plan. The note focuses on
understanding local housing need.
The Council is committed to responding positively to the challenge of housing and affordability in Elmbridge
and is working hard to progress a new Local Plan. The emerging outcomes from the plan preparation, in
particular, the new evidence on housing need and land supply, are material considerations when
considering current development proposals.

The number of new homes needed
In response to the national housing crisis, Government policy has focused on increasing housing supply
and providing the right homes in the right places to meet housing need.
The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2018), requires Local Plans to meet their
housing need unless NPPF policies indicate otherwise.1 It requires the Council to calculate it’s local
housing need2 using a national standardised methodology. The latest published Local Housing Need Figure
for Elmbridge is 612 homes per year.
This is significantly higher (29%) than the scale of need identified in the Council’s own evidence on housing
need. Previously, the Borough’s housing need figure was calculated in the Kingston and North Surrey
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) (2016) as 474 dwellings per annum.

Need for smaller homes
The SHMA (2016) is a relevant and up to date source of qualitative information regarding the size, type and
tenure of homes needed in Elmbridge. The assessment concluded there is an overwhelming need for
smaller new homes (C3 accommodation) and an acute need for affordable housing (primarily social rented
tenure).
The housing need can be broken down by the size of homes required, Table 1 below, indicates that the
primary need is for 1, 2 and 3 bedroom homes (99%) with just 1% being for 4 plus beds. The delivery of
smaller homes will provide much needed choice and balance the supply in the housing market.
Table 1: Number of Bedrooms Needed
Number of Beds
1 bed
2 bed
3 bed
4+bed

Percentage Needed %
28%
42%
29%
1%

1

Paragraph 11, NPPF, July 2018, https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policyframework
2
Housing need figure is not an adopted housing target. The Core Strategy’s adopted housing target is 225 dwellings
per year but this is out of date as it pre-dated the NPPF publication in 2012, a new housing target will be identified in
the new Local Plan.

Page 9

In the past, the delivery of new homes in Borough has been dominated by four or more bedroom properties
and this is reflected in the data in the Authority Monitoring Report 2016-17 3. The number of new four bed
(plus) homes in the Borough has already achieved over the 1% identified in the SHMA (2016). The
continued oversupply of larger homes could further exacerbate affordability issues and going forward this
size of home no longer positively contributes towards meeting local housing need.

Need for affordable homes
The SHMA identified that the Borough has significant affordability issues with an acute need for affordable
homes to meet identified need. The Council’s approach to affordable housing and affordable housing
contributions is set out in Core Strategy Policy CS21 and the Developers Contributions SPD.
In relation to planning obligations on small sites of ten homes or fewer, based on the evidence set out in the
Small Sites Exemption and the Vacant Building Credit Statement, the Council continues to apply the full
approach in Policy CS21.

Elmbridge’s housing land supply
The Elmbridge Land Availability Assessment 2016 showed that there was not enough housing land in
Borough to meet need and specifically there was not a 5-year land supply against the needs figure
identified by the SHMA. This assessment is currently being updated following the undertaking of a detailed
search for suitable land across the Borough. The latest land supply position against the standardised Local
Housing Need Figure will be published in the Council’s Authority Monitoring Report due in December 2018.
The current Local Plan evidence indicates that there is a deficiency in the supply of housing land within the
Borough to meet housing need. As such, size, mix and housing type of proposed new homes must be
carefully balanced against the current quantified and overwhelming demand as set out by the standardised
Local Housing Need Figure and the SHMA 2016.

Meeting local housing needs
The Council needs to ensure that the delivery of high quality new homes widens the tenures, types and
sizes of homes currently available within the Borough in order to meet the needs different households in
our community. This means the delivery of smaller homes (1 to 3 bedrooms) and ensuring that residential
development takes account of local need by giving a genuine choice of housing and helping create
balanced, sustainable and inclusive communities.
Our existing local policies support the national approach in providing housing that meets identified housing
need. Core Strategy Policy CS19 sets out the Council’s approach to securing a range of housing types and
sizes on developments across the Borough reflecting the most up to date evidence in terms of the size and
type of new homes. This is further supported by Development Management Policy DM10 which requires
residential development on sites of 0.3 hectares or more to promote house types and sizes that meet the
most up to date local housing need whilst reflecting the character of the area.
The limited supply of suitable housing land available for development in Elmbridge means it is vital that
each residential scheme comprises of a mix of homes that makes a positive contribution to meeting local
housing need. In line with NPPF paragraph 123, schemes that do not make efficient use of the land will be
refused. Applicants will need to demonstrate why this approach is inappropriate using relevant evidence.

Understanding floor plans and meeting space standards
Development Management Plan Policy DM10 Housing states that all housing developments, including
conversions, are required to comply with the Nationally Described Space Standard technical requirements.
Proposals for homes below these standards will not be considered acceptable. The current demand for
housing and the land supply position will not be considered a justification to allow for substandard size units
or over development.
To ensure that new homes positively contribute to meeting local housing needs in terms of their size, the
Council will consider any first floor and above rooms leading off a landing/ hallway with a window and
capable of accommodating a single bed as a bedroom.

3

Authority Monitoring Report, 2016-17, http://www.elmbridge.gov.uk/planning/local-plan/

Page 10

Positive decision and plan making
The Council is committed to positive plan making to respond to future development needs and is currently
considering the level of growth that can be sustainably accommodated within the Borough over the next
plan period up to 2036.
The Council is acutely aware of the high demand for new homes as identified by the national standardised
methodology and in the SHMA. However, the Borough is heavily constrained by land designations and, as
such, the current supply of housing land is limited. The Council is working hard to respond positively to the
challenges through the Local Plan preparations.
Through the Council’s pre-application advice service, the Council will pro-actively engage with housing
developers, applicants and agents to encourage the submission of housing schemes that make a positive
contribution to meeting local housing need.

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Draft Development Management
Advice Note 2: Optimising
Development Land
September 2018

Purpose of the Advice Note
This note is one of series of advice notes produced to assist applicants and their agents when considering
proposals for new homes in Elmbridge during the preparation of the new Local Plan. The note focuses on
the need to optimise development land in the Borough and the Council’s approach to ensuring the
optimisation of development land when assessing development proposals.
The need for new homes in the Borough is significant and land supply is limited. The Council is committed
to responding to this challenge and is in the process of producing a new Local Plan. We have been further
developing our Local Plan evidence base and this work will inform the next key stage in the Local Plan
preparation. An updated Local Plan timetable will be published in the new Local Development Scheme in
due course.

Why we need to optimise development land
Nationally, there is a drive to deliver more homes faster, as well as achieving the effective use of
development land. The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2018 supports this approach.
Specifically, NPPF paragraph 123, says that where there is a shortage of land for meeting identified
housing need, it is especially important that planning decisions avoid homes being built at low densities and
ensure that developments make optimal use of the potential of each site. It states that ‘Local Planning
Authorities should refuse applications that fail to make efficient use of land, taking into account the policies
within the NPPF’.
Existing local policies promote the efficient use of urban land and buildings and new housing schemes in
sustainable locations. Policy CS17 Local Character, Density and Design requires new development to
deliver high quality and inclusive sustainable design, which maximises the efficient use of urban land.
Policy DM2 Design and Amenity, requires all new development to achieve high quality design and respect
local character. Policy DM10 Housing, promotes housing types and sizes that make the most efficient use
of land and meets local housing need on housing sites of 0.3 hectares or more.
Elmbridge has a shortfall in its housing land supply1 and sites coming forward for development are
predominantly small in size2. The local housing need figure has significantly increased and is now 612
homes per year based on the standardised methodology3. This is a significant increase from previous
housing need figures identified in the Kingston and North Surrey Strategic Housing Market Assessment
(SHMA) (2016)4. However, the qualitative information from the SHMA remains relevant as it outlines the
‘right ’type of homes needed. The SHMA identified an overwhelming need for smaller homes (1 to 3
bedrooms), indeed the provision of smaller homes is vital for widening the choice of homes within the
Borough. As demonstrated in the Authority Monitoring Report (AMR) (2016-2017), past delivery of new
homes in the Borough has been dominated by large, four or more bedroom properties. Going forward, this
size of home does not make a positive contribution towards meeting local housing need.

1

Authority Monitoring Report, 2016-17
Land Availability Assessment, 2016,
3
Paragraph 60, NPPF, July 2018, It is important to note that this figure relates to housing need and is not an adopted
housing target. The Core Strategy’s adopted housing target is 225 dwellings per year but this is out of date as it predated the NPPF publication in 2012, a new housing target will be identified in the new Local Plan.
4 Kingston and North Surrey Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) (2016)
2

Page 13

The national and local context in relation to housing need and housing land supply, requires the
development potential of housing sites to be optimised. This is a material planning consideration.

How to optimise development land
Given the Borough’s high need for new homes, it is essential that development proposals make the most
efficient use of land and that any new homes proposed meet the identified need. Therefore, any scheme
should avoid inclusion of 4 bedroom and above properties unless it can be demonstrated that this is
required in order to make efficient use of the land.
The constrained land supply may lead to a conflicting demand from different uses. The Local Plan evidence
shows there is still a need to protect and enhance employment land and competing demand will have to be
balanced. It may mean that in some locations there could be an increase in mixed use schemes coming
forward in the Borough
The existing policies support development proposals that are design-led, of a high quality and that respects
local character. The Council does not accept that smaller units and higher densities detrimentally affects
character of an area. To enable the optimisation of land and to respond to local housing needs
development schemes will need innovative and utilise higher densities while respecting the local character.
The Council will carefully consider whether the proposal represents the ‘most effective’ use of the site, this
includes balancing the demand for different uses. The Council will resist development proposals that do not
optimise the capacity of the development land.
Further information about housing need can be found in the draft Development Management Advice Note
1: Understanding Housing Need.

Positive decision and plan making
The Council is committed to positive plan making and responding to future development needs. It is
currently considering the level of growth that can be sustainably accommodated within the Borough over
the next plan period up to 2036.
The Council is acutely aware of the high demand for housing as identified by the national standardised
methodology and in the SHMA. However, the Borough is heavily constrained by land designations and, as
such, the current supply of housing land is limited. The Council is working hard to respond positively to the
challenges through the Local Plan preparations.
Through the Council’s pre-application advice service, the Council will pro-actively engage with the housing
developers, applicants and agents to encourage the submission of development schemes that represent
the efficient use of land and that optimise the capacity of each site.

Page 14

Agenda Item 3.
Committee:

Individual Cabinet Member Decision Making – Planning Services

Date of meeting: 12 October 2018
Subject:
Lead Officer:
Portfolio Holder:
Link to Council Priorities:
Exempt information:
Delegated status:
Key decision:

Draft Exemption of Small Sites & the Vacant
Building Credit Statement- Update September 2018
Michael Corbett, Planning Policy Officer
Councillor James Browne, Portfolio Holder for
Planning Services
P2
None
For Resolution
No

Executive Summary:
This report introduces of the updated Exemption of Small Sites & the Vacant
Building Credit Statement that has been prepared following the publication of the
revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) in July 2018.
Local Plan Working Group agreed on 25 September 2018 that approval should be
sought from the Portfolio Holder to publish Exemption of Small Sites & the Vacant
Building Credit Statement- Update September 2018 on the Council’s website.
Recommendation: that the Cabinet Member for Planning Services:


approve the Exemption of Small Sites and the Vacant Building Credit
Statement - update September 2018 for publication on the Council’s
Website following a two week call-in period.

Report:
1

Background

1.1

In the summer of 2016, the Council decided to continue to apply Policy CS21
(Affordable Housing) in the decision-making process and to consider on a
case by case basis the weight to be given to conflicting local and national
planning policy. At that time, this element of national policy was issued
through a Government Written Ministerial Statement (WMS) and changes to
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). The WMS set out that local planning
authorities should not seek affordable housing contributions on development
sites of 10 dwellings or less

1.2

To support the decision to continue the application of Policy CS21, the
Council published a position statement, the first of which was published in
2016. In February 2017 an update was produced, this looked at planning
applications and appeals over the six-month period following the amendment
to the Planning Practice Guidance and the Council decision to continue to
apply Policy CS21. The statement is published on the Council’s website and
issued to the Planning Inspectorate in support of relevant appeals. To date,
the continuing application of Policy CS21 has thus far been successful.

Page 15

2

Draft Exemption of Small Sites and the Vacant Building Credit
Statement- Update September 2018

2.1

In July of this year Central Government published the revised NPPF which
formally incorporates the provision set out in the WMS into national policy.
This introduced a conflict with the Council’s approach to affordable housing
provision as set out in Policy CS21 ‘Affordable Housing’ of the adopted
Elmbridge Local Plan: Core Strategy (July 2011).

2.2

A draft Statement has been prepared (see Appendix A) to outline the
Council’s position on the revised NPPF and how it intends to take forward
decisions where there is a conflict between local and national policy. The draft
Statement does not introduce new policy.

2.3

The Council needs to comply with both the Government’s policy on delivering
development on previously developed land and continue to deliver affordable
units as required under paragraphs 59, 61 and 62 of the NPPF. To achieve
this, the Council must consider on a case by case basis whether local
circumstances regarding affordable housing needs and the nature of the
development sites in the Borough are sufficient to warrant the application of
CS21, or whether greater weight should be attached to the revised NPPF.

2.4

The draft Statement explains the local circumstances and provides
justification for the continued approach of seeking affordable housing
contributions on developments of 10 units or fewer, on a case by case basis.
The draft Statement evidences the exceptional local circumstances relating to
local affordable housing need, housing affordability and the role of small sites
within the Borough’s housing land supply.

2.5

In support of the Council’s position, the draft Statement provides details of the
implementation of Policy CS21 since the adoption of the Core Strategy in
2011 as well as its success at appeal since the introduction of the WMS.

2.6

From past delivery it is clear that the current policy approach has neither had
an adverse impact upon the delivery of new homes on small sites, nor has it
been financially harmful to small and medium enterprise developers. As part
of the new Local Plan the Council will be reviewing its Viability Assessment in
light of potential development sites and infrastructure needs. However, to
support the continued implementation of Policy CS21, Officers asked the
consultants (DixonSearle Partnership (DSP)) to review the approach to
seeking affordable housing contributions on sites of fewer than 10 units. This
will be published alongside the statement.

2.7

The draft Statement also reflects on the successful delivery of Policy CS21
evidencing how the contributions to date have enabled the Council to support
the delivery of both new affordable units and ensure the more effective
provision of its existing stock and reduce under occupation.

2.8

To conclude, the Council should continue to consider Policy CS21 Affordable
Housing as part of the decision-making process for any relevant application.

Page 16

Where applicants consider that the charge is disproportionate the Council will
request that the relevant information setting out scheme viability is submitted
for independent assessment as set out in the Developer Contributions SPD.
3

Conclusion

3.1

Formal member approval is sought to publish the Exemption of Small Sites &
the Vacant Building Credit Statement (September 2018) as set out in
Appendix A of this report following a two week call-in period.

Financial implications:
None for the purpose of this report.
Environmental implications:
None for the purpose of this report.
Legal implications:
The LPA should expect be tested on its stance by challenges to any decision to
impose an Affordable Housing requirement on sites that are not ‘major
developments’ as defined in the NPPF notwithstanding its success to date in
defending its position in relation to the Written Ministerial Statement (WMS). The
NPPF is of higher standing that the WMS but the Council’s position is still
arguable given the exceptional level of need for Affordable Housing within the
Borough.
Equality Implications:
None for the purpose of this report.
Risk Management Implications:
None for the purpose of this report.
Community Safety Implications:
None for the purpose of this report.
Background papers:
None
Enclosures/Appendices:
Appendix A – Draft Exemption of Small Sites & the Vacant Building Credit
Statement (September 2018)
Contact details:
Michael Corbett, Planning Policy Officer - 01372 474823
mcorbett@elmbridge.gov.uk

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Statement on the Government’s National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) (2018) – Affordable Housing Provision on Small Sites
November 2018

Introduction
1.1

On 24 July 2018, the Government published its revised National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF). The NPPF sets out the Government’s planning policies for England and how these
should be applied both for plan-making and decision-taking. In terms of decision-taking i.e. in
the consideration of planning applications, the NPPF is a material consideration for which
appropriate weight should be applied.

1.2

In regard to affordable housing, detailed policies are set out in Chapter 5: Delivering a
sufficient supply of homes. The focus of this Statement is paragraph 63 of the NPPF which
states that the provision of affordable housing should ‘not be sought for residential
developments that are not major development, other than in designated rural areas’.

1.3

The publication of the NPPF introduces a conflict with the Council’s approach to affordable
housing provision as set out in Policy CS21 ‘Affordable Housing’ of the adopted Elmbridge
Local Plan: Core Strategy (July 2011).

1.4

The purpose of this Statement is therefore to outline the Council’s position on the NPPF and
how it intends to take forward decisions where there is a conflict between local and national
policy. This Statement does not introduce new policy.

1.5

This Statement was endorsed and agreed for publication on XX November 2018, by the
Portfolio Holder for Planning Services, Councillor James Browne on behalf of the Council.

Policy Context
2.1

Paragraph 63 of the NPPF states that the provision of affordable housing should not be
sought for residential developments that are not major development, other than in designated
rural areas (where policies may set out a lower threshold of 5 units or fewer). Elmbridge
Borough is not a designated rural area and major development sites are defined in the NPPF
as development of 10 or more homes, or if the site has an area of 0.5 hectares or more.

2.2

The Government’s approach to small sites and affordable housing provision follows that set
out in its Written Ministerial Statement (WMS) (28 November 2014) and subsequent changes
to Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) dated 19 May 2016, both relating to the exemption of
small sites from planning contributions and the Vacant Building Credit (VBC).

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 19

2.3

The Council’s approach to affordable housing provision is set out in Policy CS21 of the Local
Plan: Core Strategy (July 2011). The policy establishes that the Council will seek contributions
for affordable homes on all development where there is a net increase in residential units. The
level of contributions varies according to the number of dwellings proposed. In regard to
developments of fewer than 10 dwellings, the Council’s approach, as set out in Policy CS21 is:
• A financial contribution equivalent to the cost of 20% of the gross number of dwellings on
sites of 1-4 dwellings;
• 20% of the gross number of dwellings on sites of 5 dwellings; and
• 30% of the gross number of dwellings on sites of 6 – 14 dwellings.

2.4

In accordance with the NPPF, Policy CS21 makes clear that the application of the above
thresholds and percentages is subject to financial viability. The policy is supported by the
Council’s Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (February 2012)
which provides specific details of the negotiation process if non-viability can be robustly
demonstrated.

2.5

Forming part of the Core Strategy, the drafting of Policy CS21 has been carefully considered
by Officers and has been subject to close and extensive Councillor involvement; various
rounds of public consultation; and considered by a Planning Inspector at the Examination in
Public (EiP) of the Local Plan: Core Strategy. In addition, the Policy is underpinned by a
Viability Study. The Developer Contributions SPD was also prepared and adopted following
careful consideration of the evidence base and having been subject to close and extensive
Councillor involvement, and public consultation including discussions with the development
industry.

Consideration of the NPPF
3.1

As set out in Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Act 20041, the starting point for
any decision is the Development Plan unless any material consideration(s) indicate otherwise.
This point is acknowledged in paragraph 2 of the NPPF as a matter of planning law.
Therefore, whilst the NPPF is clear in regard to the Government’s intentions on planning
obligations in relation to small sites, the weight to attach to a policy within the Development
Plan and to other material considerations, in a given set of circumstances, is a matter of
discretion for the decision taker.

3.2

In addition, whilst new national policy may affect the weight to which to attach to any conflict
between national and local policy it cannot remove that conflict. As such, the conflict between
Policy CS21 and the NPPF still requires the decision taker to assess the weight it attaches to
both sides of that conflict, as well as other material considerations. Ultimately it is for the Local
Planning Authority, in the first instance to decide on each relevant application whether there
are sufficient local circumstances to allow the implementation of Policy CS21. Should the
Council’s decision be appealed, it then becomes that decision of the Planning Inspectorate.
The local circumstances that the Council considers relevant to Elmbridge Borough are set out
below.

1

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/section/38

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 20

Affordable Housing Need
4.1

The Council’s latest assessment of housing need is set out in the Kingston & North-East
Surrey Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) (2016)2. The SHMA identifies that the
annual affordable housing need in Elmbridge Borough is for 458 gross dwellings. Consisting
mostly of concealed and newly forming households unable to buy on the open market, the net
annual need for affordable homes (taking account of potential supply e.g. new builds and relets) is for 332 dwellings per annum (6,640 net units across a 20-year period up to 2035).

4.2

Putting the level of affordable housing need into context, over the last seven monitoring years
(2011/12 – 2017/18) 1,848 additional homes (both market and affordable) have been added to
the housing stock (on average 264 per annum)3. Therefore, to meet the affordable housing
need of 332 dwellings per annum (2,324 dwellings over a seven-year period), the entirety of
all new residential development that has occurred per annum since 2011/12 would need to be
affordable plus an additional 68 units per annum4.

4.3

The challenge to provide the required level of affordable housing within the Borough is also
highlighted when compared to the percentage of the housing stock that is social rented (10%)
and shared ownership (0.7%) and affordable housing completions. The Council’s latest
monitoring information (at August 2018) shows that in the last reporting year (2017/18), 28
new affordable housing units were completed; a 92% shortfall against the annualised need.

4.4

In addition, the Council considers the Government’s Standardised Methodology for calculating
housing need5 as an indicator of affordable housing need within the Borough. The associated
data table identifies the annual housing need in Elmbridge Borough as 612 dwellings between
2018/19 and 2028/29. Based on household formation rates within the Borough, the housing
need is for 436 dwellings per annum over the 10-year period. However, in accordance with the
proposed methodology and the Government’s aim of increasing affordable housing provision,
this is significantly increased by 747 dwellings per annum based on affordability ratios prior to
a 40% cap being placed on the uplift.

House Prices & Affordability Issue
5.1

The cost of housing in the UK and its impact on local people is a key concern for most local
authorities, ranking higher than long-held concerns on health and social care services. Whilst
high house prices and subsequent affordability issues are not particularly unique when it
comes to the South-East; with most areas now becoming ‘unaffordable’ to the first-time buyer,
the region is becoming increasingly polarised with house prices ranging from nearly £759,000
in Elmbridge Borough compared to just over £208,000 in Gosport .

5.2

Average (mean) house prices in 2016/17 in Elmbridge Borough are exceptionally high,
amongst the highest in the country and, as prices continue to rise, are now 2.6 times that of

2

Kingston & North-East Surrey Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) (2016) http://www.elmbridge.gov.uk/planning/sdps/evidence-and-supporting-docs/
3 Elmbridge Authorities’ Monitoring Report (AMR) 2016/17 plus know net completions for 2017/18 as at
August 2018 4 This would be at a minimum on the basis that all new homes were provided by a registered provider. If any
of our affordable housing need was to be met as a percentage of market developments, then housing
delivery would need to be more than 332 dwellings per annum.
5 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government – Planning for the right homes in the right places:
consultation proposal https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-right-homes-in-theright-places-consultation-proposals

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 21

the national average. In addition, when compared to the South East and Surrey averages
(mean), house prices in Elmbridge Borough are now double the South East average and one
and a half times that of the Surrey average. Continued increases in house prices in Elmbridge
Borough show that the area is becoming increasingly expensive and at a quicker rate than
most areas. For example, over the last decade (2007 – 2017), house prices have increased by
54% in comparison to the England average of 38%.
5.3

According to the National Housing Federation (HBF) (Home Truths 2017/186), the average
house price in Elmbridge Borough is now in the region of £759,000, making the Borough the
most difficult place in the country outside of London to get a step on the property ladder where
average wages, house prices and limited ability to save for a deposit collide to price out
would-be homeowners. As set out in Table 1, Elmbridge Borough had the 9th highest average
(mean) house price across the entirety of England in 2016/17, with the 8 other Local Authority
areas all being in London.
Ranking

Local Authority

Region

Average
(mean)
house
price

Mean annual
earnings in
2017

Ratio of
house
prices to
incomes

Income required
for 80%
mortgage (80%
at 3.5x)

1

Kensington & Chelsea

London

£1,983,779

£70,496

28.1

£435,435

2

Westminster

London

£1,610,474

£55,266

29.1

£368,109

3

Camden

London

£1,027,351

£42,552

24.1

£234,823

4

Hammersmith & Fulham

London

£937,157

£43,347

21.6

£214,207

5

City of London

London

£933,478

£57,689

16.2

£213,366

6

Wandsworth

London

£788,501

£44,658

17.7

£180,229

7

Richmond upon Thames

London

£781,260

£47,970

16.3

£178,574

8

Islington

London

£760,315

£42,916

17.7

£173,786

9

Elmbridge

S. East

£759,635

£40,461

18.8

£173,631

Table 1: Highest average mean house price across the entirety of England in 2016/17 (HBF)

5.4

Whilst average annual mean incomes in Elmbridge in 2017 reached £40,461, which is well
above the averages for Surrey (£37,248); the South East (£30,914); London (£35,610) and
England (£28,444), due to exceptionally high house prices, the average household income
required to obtain a mortgage at 80% was £173,361 (80% at 3.5x). The level of average
income required is double that required in the South East and across England in general
(£88,520 and £66,034 respectively) and between £39,676 and £55,362 higher than across
Surrey (£117,999) and London (£133,685).

5.5

Whilst the annual average mean income of Borough residents is amongst the highest in
England, the HBF has identified that due to high average mean house prices, the ratio of
house prices to income (often referred to as the ‘affordability’ ratio) is 18.8. Again, this is on
par with the levels experienced in London with, Elmbridge Borough having the 6th highest
affordability ratio in England (in addition to those London Boroughs set out in Table 1, the
London Borough of Hackney has an affordability ratio of 19.7).

5.6

In terms of accessing the property market in Elmbridge Borough, it is most likely that first time
buyers will be looking towards house prices in the lowest quartile7 i.e. it is unlikely that they

6

National Housing Federation – Home Truths 2017/18 - https://www.housing.org.uk/resource-library/hometruths/
7 Lower quartile - when a series of values are arranged by order of magnitude the lower quartile (or 25th
percentile) is the value that splits the lowest 25 per cent of the data from the highest 75 per cent.

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 22

would seek to purchase / obtain a mortgage on a detached property where the average price
is over £1m. It is therefore important to also look at affordability issues in the Borough in the
context of lowest quartile house prices and lowest quartile earnings. As shown in Table 2, data
from the ONS8 identifies the lowest quartile house price in Elmbridge Borough was £342,000
in 2015 compared to the lowest quartile earnings of Elmbridge residents of £23,436. In terms
of the lowest quartile house prices, Elmbridge Borough experienced the highest levels outside
of London and 11th highest across England and Wales including London Boroughs.
5.7

In terms of the lowest quartile house / incomes affordability ratio for Elmbridge Borough
(14.59) this is 16th highest experienced across England and Wales. Once again, the
affordability ratio for Elmbridge Borough sits alongside those experienced in London Boroughs
as well as St Albans (15.00) and South Bucks (14.90), both in the South East.
Ranking

Local Authority

Region

Lower quartile
house price

Lower quartile
annual earnings

Affordability
Ratio

1

Kensington & Chelsea

London

£715,000

£22,482

31.80

2

City of London

London

£626,250

£35,860

17.46

3

Westminster

London

£579,340

£27,314

21.21

4

Hammersmith & Fulham

London

£499,999

£26,039

19.20

5

Camden

London

£475,000

£27,015

17.58

6

Islington

London

£425,000

£26,649

15.95

7

Wandsworth

London

£415,520

£23,537

17.65

8

Hackney

London

£350,000

£22,078

15.85

9

Lambeth

London

£350,000

£25,771

13.58

10

Southwark

London

£345,175

£26,494

13.03

11

Elmbridge

S. East

£342,000

£23,436

14.59

Table 2: Ratio of lower quartile house price to lower quartile annual earnings, England & Wales, 2015 (HBF)

5.8

From the data and information set out above, the Council is aware that for most first-time
buyers and even those already established on the housing ladder, opportunities of finding an
‘affordable’ home within Elmbridge Borough are limited. In most local authority areas
experiencing similar issues, the private rented market can offer a suitable alternative.
However, as evidenced by the HBF, mean monthly private sector rents in 2016/17 are still
beyond most individuals’ and households’ earnings. Data from the HBF shows mean monthly
private sector rents in Elmbridge Borough are £1,810, the highest-level experienced outside of
London. Again, these rates are higher than the Surrey and South East averages (£1,343 and
£994 respectively) and are comparable to London Boroughs. Following the trend of mean
house prices, Elmbridge Borough in 2016/17 experienced the 9th highest private rental levels
in England behind those London Boroughs listed in Table 1.

5.9

The Valuation Office Agency (VOA)9 also provides data and information on the private rental
market. Data published June 2018, identifies that the lowest quartile monthly rents for all
properties recorded between 1 March 2017 and 31 April 2018, in Elmbridge Borough was

8

9

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) – Ratio of house price earnings to (lower quartile and median) by
local authority district, England and Wales, 1997 to 2015 (Table 5) https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/adhocs/006557ratioofhousepricetoearnings
lowerquartileandmedianbylocalauthoritydistrictenglandandwales1997to2015 (Released date: 19 January
2017)
Valuation Office Agency (VOA) – Official Statistics, Private rental market summary statistics – April 2017 to
March 2018 - https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/private-rental-market-summary-statistics-april-2017to-march-2018

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 23

£1,000; falling within the top 10% of authorities within the highest lowest quartile monthly
rents. Again, the lowest quartile monthly rents experienced in Elmbridge are on-par with
London Boroughs (in particular Outer London) and similar to other South East areas on the
edge of London e.g. Epsom & Ewell, Hertsmere and Three Rivers (See Figure 1).

Figure 1: Comparisons of lowest quartile monthly rents for all
properties recorded between 1 March 2017 and 31 April 2018
(VOA)10

5.10 As set out in Table 3, data from the VOA identifies that lowest quartile private rents have
generally increased in Elmbridge Borough over the last 5 years (2013 – 2018). The rent for a
‘room’11 seeing the largest percentage increase in monthly rent from £400 - £550 (a 38%
increase). Besides the lowest quartile private rent for a 4+ bedroom unit, all property types
have seen an increase in monthly cost between 2013 and 2018.
Lowest Quartile Monthly Rents
2013 - 1412

2014 - 1513

2015 - 1614

2016 - 1715

2017 - 1816

% Change
2014 - 18

Room17

£400

£550

£550

£485

£550

38%

Studio

£613

£600

£625

£675

£650

6%

1-bed

£775

£825

£850

£855

£855

10%

2-bed

£950

£1,000

£1,050

£1,050

£1,100

16%

3-bed

£1,250

£1,300

£1,377

£1,400

£1,395

12%

4+ bed

£2,340

£2,400

£2,400

£2,450

£2,300

-2%

All
properties

£900

£883

£1,000

£1,000

£1,000

11%

Table 3 – Annual lowest quartile monthly rents for all property types in Elmbridge Borough between 2013
and 2018 (VOA)

10

The average depicted in Figure 1 is that of the areas shown within the chart
VOA – definition of a ‘room’ - a non-self-contained single room with shared facilities. Includes bedsits,
single rooms in a house or flat shared with other tenants, and single rooms rented from a resident landlord.
12 For the period 1 April 2013 – 31 March 2014
13 For the period 1 October 2014 – 30 September 2015
14 For the period 1 October 2015 – 30 September 2016
15 For the period 1 April 2016 – 31 March 2017
16 For the period 1 April 2017 – 31 March 2018
11

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 24

The Importance of Small Sites
6.1

The Government continues to prioritise the delivery of new housing on brownfield sites. This
approach is supported in the Council’s Core Strategy and emerging Local Plan, and the vast
majority of housing that has come forward in the Borough since the adoption of the Core
Strategy has been on previously developed land. However, within Elmbridge Borough a
significant proportion of the sites that are granted planning permission are very small in
comparison to those found in more urban areas, and especially those London Boroughs facing
similar affordability issues.

6.2

Between 1 August 2011 (when all relevant applications registered and determined after this
date where required to be considered against Policy CS21) until 31 July 2018, 1,286 gross18
units have been granted planning permission on sites of fewer than 10 units and where there
has been a net19 increase20. As set out in Table 4, during the period 1 August 2011 – 31 July
2018, on average 46% of units approved were on schemes of 1 – 9 gross units; accounting for
1,286 new units. In some years (2011/12 and 2014/15) the proportion of total units approved
that came from small sites was 100% with the median average21 across the monitoring period
(2011 – 2018) at 67%.

6.3

Of further interest is that Table 4 also shows that during the period 1 August 2011 – 31 July
2018, 94% of planning applications granted planning permission were for developments of
fewer than 10 gross units. During the monitoring period (2011 – 2018), this equated to 546
applications out of a total of 580.

Scheme
size –
proposed
units

Fewer than 10
units (gross)

Applications
granted
planning
permission with
fewer than 10
gross units

10 units or more
(gross)

Applications
granted planning
permission with
10 or more
gross units

Total
units
(gross)

Total app.

Year of
approval

No. of
units

% of
total
units

No. of
app.

% of
total
app.

No. of
units

% of
total
units

No. of
app.

% of
total
app.

2011/12 22

23

100%

13

100%

0

0%

0

0%

23

13

2012/13

100

67%

49

96%

52

33%

2

4%

150

51

2013/14

151

69%

65

94%

67

31%

4

6%

218

69

2014/15

181

100%

89

100%

0

0%

0

0%

181

89

2015/16

189

22%

85

89%

652

78%

10

11%

841

95

2016/17

285

67%

107

95%

142

33%

6

5%

427

113

2017/18

243

42%

94

91%

334

58%

9

9%

577

103

114

31%

44

92%

250

69%

4

8%

364

48

1,286

46%

546

94%

1,497

54%

35

6%

2,783

581

2018
Total

23

Table 4: Gross dwellings and number of applications granted planning permission by scheme size, 2011 – 2018.

18

Gross dwellings – is the total number of new units on a site not taking account of any dwellings demolished
Net dwellings – refers to the number of new dwellings being created minus any existing dwellings lost
through demolition for example
20 Information taken from the Council’s residential monitor.
21 Median average – is the "middle" value in the list of numbers when listed in numerical order from smallest
to largest
22 Data is from the date of the implementation of Policy CS21 (1 August 2011) up to 31 March 2012
23 Date is from 1 April 2018 up to 31 July 2018
19

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 25

6.4

The Council’s monitoring information also shows that of the 581 applications registered and
determined after 1 August 2011 up until 31 July 2018, 558 have a recorded site area. Of
these, 525 development schemes were on sites of less than 0.50 hectares (96%). The
average site size of all developments on less than 0.50 hectares being 0.11 hectares.

Planning Applications & Appeals
Planning Applications
7.1

The Council started to apply Policy CS21 to all relevant planning applications registered for
determination from 1 August 2011. From this date up until 31 July 2018, 581 applications have
been granted permission where Policy CS21 has been considered. Of these applications:
•

495 related to the provision of 1 – 4 gross units whereby Policy CS21 would require a
financial contribution equivalent to providing 20% of the gross number of dwellings as
affordable;

•

19 related to the provision of 5 gross units whereby Policy CS21 would require 20% of the
gross number of dwellings on-site as affordable;

•

40 related to the provision of 6 – 14 gross units whereby Policy CS21 would require 30% of
the gross number of dwellings on-site as affordable and any ‘part units’ would require an
affordable housing contribution; and

•

27 related to the provision of 15 gross units or more whereby Policy CS21 would require
40% of the gross number of dwelling on-site as affordable.

7.2

Of the 581 planning applications, 545 development schemes (94%) applied to sites of fewer
than 10 units – the Government’s threshold for major developments. From these applications
61 affordable housing units have been provided on-site. Nevertheless, this is a reduction in the
number of affordable housing units required on-site as, in accordance with Policy CS21,
viability has been taken into account. Hence, on 16 development schemes the on-site
requirement for affordable housing provision has been waivered entirely (4 development
schemes) or reduced (12 development schemes). On a further 3 development schemes
affordable housing provision was not required due to the changes to PPG and WMS (see
Section 8 for further details).

7.3

It is important to note however, that even on the 12 development schemes where the on-site
affordable housing contribution was reduced, £1,233,687 was still collected as a financial
contribution for either the payment of a ‘part-unit’ or in lieu of on-site provision.

7.4

Focusing on financial contributions and sites of 1-4 units, of the 495 development schemes
granted permission:

24

•

65 development schemes related to Prior Notifications whereby the Council is unable
able to apply Policy CS21;

•

2 development schemes applied Vacant Building Credit and thus in accordance with
Government policy were not required to make a contribution towards affordable
housing;

•

56 development schemes were granted permission between 28 November 2014 and
31 July 2015 whereby due to the WMS the Council was unable to collect financial
contributions from small sites24;

See Section 8 for further details

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 26

7.5

•

11 development schemes were granted permission on appeal whereby the Planning
Inspectorate gave greater weight to the changes to PPG and WMS than Policy CS2125;

•

5 development schemes were granted permission in error without securing a S106
agreement for affordable housing; and

•

1 development scheme was granted permission as part of a superseded application
that had already commenced and paid the contribution towards affordable housing.

Discounting the above applications, the Council has determined 354 applications whereby
Policy CS21 has been applied to sites of 1-4 gross units. Of these:
•

58 development schemes (16%) have had the affordable housing contribution waived
due to financial viability. For 12 development schemes the amount that should have
been payable is noted; totalling approximately £890,000;

•

32 development schemes (9%) have had the affordable housing contribution reduced
due to financial viability. For 26 development schemes the amount that should have
been payable is noted; totalling approximately £2.9 million. Instead however,
approximately £780,000 has been committed (a reduction of approximately £2.1
million; 72%); and

•

264 development schemes (75%) have committed to pay the full amount of affordable
housing contribution required. From these development schemes the amount of
financial contributions that has been secured through S106 agreements is
approximately £16.5 million26.

7.6

Of the 264 applications having agreed to pay the affordable housing contribution in full in
accordance with Policy CS21, the average amount agreed is £62,382. The lowest amount
agreed to be paid is £5,638 (for 1 additional dwelling in Thames Ditton with a total Gross
Internal Area (GIA) of 95 sqm (application 2016/4162)). The highest amount agreed to be
paid is £260,481 (for 4 gross 2 net dwellings in East Molesey with a total GIA of 2,284 sqm
(application 2015/2479)).

7.7

Examples of the amount of affordable housing contributions being agreed under Policy CS21
are set out in Table 5. Those presented have been selected as they show that affordable
housing contributions are being agreed across a range of sites e.g. from across the
Borough’s settlement areas; providing different numbers of gross and net units; and
providing varying total Gross Internal Areas (GIAs).
Application
No.

Settlement Area

2016/2033
2017/3850
2015/4561
2016/0277
2017/0160

2015/2479
2017/0424
2017/3269

Gross Units

Net Units

Total GIA

Total Affordable
Housing
Contribution

Claygate

2

2

352

£115,936.65

Cobham & Oxshott
Dittons
Esher
Hersham
Molesey
Walton on Thames
Weybridge

4
4
1
1
4
3
1

3
4
1
1
2
2
1

152
860
53
47
2284
346
60

£171,574.38
£197,345.56
£29,680.21
£24,937.87
£260,481.82
£79,473.10
£49,888.53

Table 5: Selected Affordable Housing Contributions required and agreed under Policy CS21

25
26

See paragraphs 7.8 – 7.10 for further details
This includes an element of late payment interest

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 27

Planning Appeals
7.8

Since the changes to PPG and up to 1 August 2018, the Planning Inspectorate has issued 58
planning decisions where affordable housing issues were considered as part of the appeal
process. Of the 58 decisions issued, in 43 appeals (74%), Planning Inspectors have agreed
with the Council’s continued application of Policy CS21, whereas in 15 appeals (26%) the
Planning Inspectors have given more weight to the Government’s WMS and changes to PPG
(now embedded in the revised NPPF). The details of these are set out in Appendix 1.

7.9

In the 15 appeals where Planning Inspectors considered affordable housing payments were no
longer appropriate, the main reason given was that the PPG / WMS was the clearest and most
recent expression of national planning policy which states that affordable housing contributions
from small scale development should not be sought. Limited or no reference was made to
previous Council Statements as a material consideration and how this had been balanced
against the weight given to the WMS and PPG. Furthermore, these decisions were either
made early on after the introduction of the WMS and PPG or, for a period, where Inspectors
considered the Council’s affordable housing policy carried less weight in light of the lack of 5
year housing land supply27.

7.10 In the 43 appeals where Planning Inspectors have agreed with the Council’s approach and
determined that local circumstances and Policy CS21 carries more weight than the PPG and
WMS, the general consensus in these decisions was as follows:
• The effect of the national policy in the WMS is that it would normally be inappropriate to
require any affordable housing below the thresholds stated. Nevertheless, whilst there is a
presumption that a policy such as a WMS should be followed, especially as it postdates the
Core Strategy, it is also important to acknowledge that a policy that is relevant to the matter
in hand should not be applied rigidly or exclusively when material considerations may
indicate an exception may be necessary;
• The view of the Council that it is for the decision taker to weigh any conflict between
relevant policies in light of material considerations, including local circumstances, is agreed;
• Whilst the WMS carries considerable weight, it does not necessarily outweigh the
Development Plan given the acute and substantial need for affordable housing in the
Borough and the importance of delivery through small sites towards this;
• There has been a lack of substantive evidence being submitted by appellants showing that
the application of Policy CS21 is placing an unreasonable or disproportionate burden on
developers of small-scale schemes. Moreover, appellants have not provided anything that
leads to the conclusion that viability is an issue; and
• Whilst the Council does not have a 5-year housing land supply, Policy CS21 is not a policy
‘for the supply’ of housing and is therefore not out of date. Furthermore, the Council needs
to comply with both the Government’s policy on delivering development on previously
developed land and continue to deliver affordable units as required under paragraph 50 of
the NPPF (2012).
• It is also has been concluded that the affordable housing contribution sought satisfies the
two tests in Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 and
paragraph 204 of the NPPF (2012).

27

The Council’s lack of 5 year housing land supply and implications in regard to Policy CS21 is set out in
Section 12 of this Statement

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 28

The implications of the Government’s PPG & WMS
8.1

8.2

During the period when the Government’s Written Ministerial Statement (WMS) was first
introduced (28 November 2014) until the 31 July 2015 when the High Court handed down
judgement in West Berkshire Council vs SSCLG [2015], the Council was unable to seek
contributions towards the provision of affordable housing through the provisions of Policy
CS21 in regard to sites of less than 10 units. During this period, planning permission was
granted on 61 development schemes28 whereby Policy CS21 would have required:
•

56 development schemes to provide a financial contribution towards affordable
housing equivalent to 20% provision on-site;

•

2 development schemes that would have required 20% of the total units as
affordable; and

•

3 development schemes that would have required 30% of the total units as
affordable and a contribution towards affordable housing from a ‘part-unit’.

As a result of the WMS, the Council was unable to seek to collect approximately £3.57
million in financial contributions and require the provision of 6 affordable housing units onsite.

Viability
9.1

As set out in Section 2 of this Statement, a Viability Assessment was undertaken to support
the drafting of Policy CS21. However, in accordance with Government policy and guidance
the Council acknowledges the importance of ensuring that viability does not compromise
sustainable development and that policy requirements, such as affordable housing and
infrastructure needs, are set at a level that allows for the planned types of sites and
development to be delivered.

9.2

As part of the new Local Plan the Council will be reviewing its Viability Assessment in light of
potential development sites and infrastructure needs. However, to support the continued
implementation of Policy CS21, the Council asked its consultants (DixonSearle Partnership)
(DSP)) to review the approach to seeking affordable housing contributions on sites of fewer
than 10 units29.

9.3

The outcome of this review was that the analysis of viability has been demonstrated that
contributions to affordable housing from sites with fewer than 10 units are viable in principle
alongside the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) rates.

Utilising Monies Collected
10.1

It is a key priority for the Council to increase the supply of affordable homes in Elmbridge
Borough. Affordable housing contributions from small sites have enabled the Council to
support the delivery of both new units and ensure the more effective provision of its existing
stock and reducing under occupation, a key element of the NPPF.

10.2

Financial contributions collected are held in the Council’s Affordable Housing Enabling Fund.
Table 6 summaries spend from the Enabling Fund and the associated outputs, both in terms
of additional affordable housing supply and making better use of the existing housing stock

28
29

The 61 development schemes exclude a further two applications that were duplicates for the same sites
Insert link to the report – publish on our website

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 29

in the eight years between April 2011 and March 2018. It shows that the Enabling Fund has
directly contributed to the provision of 68 additional affordable homes (through a combination
of new-build and acquisitions), whilst also supporting the better use of the existing social
housing stock.
Scheme

Intermediate affordable –
acquisitions (Homeownership
Assistance Scheme)

Units delivered / under
construction / released

Total spend from
Enabling Fund
(actuals)

Average contribution
per unit from Enabling
Fund

42

£1,523,973

£36,285

Rented affordable provision –
acquisitions and new-build

26

£1,404,485

£54,019

Sub-total – additional supply

68

£2,928,458

£43,065

147 homes released

£519,00

£3,531

215

£3,447,458

£16,035

Making better use of affordable
stock - Perfect Fit underoccupation scheme (social rent /
affordable rent)
Total

Table 6: Summary of affordable housing delivery supported by financial contributions secured through
Elmbridge Borough Council's planning policies (1 April 2011 to 31 March 2018)

10.3

In addition to monies already spent, the Council has also committed approximately £770,000
to support the continuation of both the Elmbridge Homeownership Assistance30 and Perfect
Fit31 schemes whilst also funding an increase in supported housing provision within the
Borough.

10.4

Furthermore, at an Elmbridge Borough Council meeting on 21 February 2018, the Council
agreed to establish a Council-owned housing company with the aim of building homes to
meet the needs of residents. The creation of this housing company opens up new
opportunities for affordable housing to be developed in the Borough. The company is initially
focusing on developing Council-owned land and acquiring existing street properties. It is
envisaged that the new company will start planning for development in 2018/19; taking
ownership of around 15 homes.

10.5

Examples of the Council’s recent work includes:

30

31

•

5 affordable homes being provided at Albemarle House in Thames Ditton having secured
planning in January 2018 to convert the vacant office building to residential use. Works
started in July 2018.

•

5 affordable homes being provided through the redevelopment of Weybridge Hall having
secured planning permission in April 2018 to convert the hall to a cinema and the upper
floors to residential use.

Homeownership Assistance scheme – the Council supports Catalyst Housing to run the Elmbridge
Homeownership Assistance Scheme, which gives aspiring homeowners and who are priced out of the
market, a route to purchasing a home of their own. The scheme offers equity loans of up to £90,000 to
qualifying households towards the cost of purchase. 39 households have been helped through this scheme
since 2011 (as at March 2018)
Perfect Fit scheme – with Paragon Housing the Council launched the Perfect Fit scheme in 2012 to
encourage tenants in homes larger than they needed to downsize, thereby freeing up much-needed larger
homes for families in need. Support and incentives of up to £4,000 have resulted in just under 150
households downsizing (as at March 2018).

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 30

Five Year Housing Land Supply
11.1

Forming part of the Planning Inspectorates’ justification for not requiring some development
schemes to provide a contribution towards affordable housing (see paragraph 7.3) was the
issue of the Council not being able to demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply when
assessed against the Objectively Assessed Housing Need (OAHN), as set out in the
Kingston & North East Surrey SHMA, and the Government’s draft Standardised
Methodology. Policy CS21 was thus deemed by some Planning Inspectors as out of date
and subsequently the presumption in favour of sustainable development was applied. That is
to say that there was a policy presumption in favour of the grant of planning permission.

11.2

However, these decisions were generally issued prior to / around the time of the Suffolk
Coastal District Council (Appellant) v Hopkins Homes Ltd and another (Respondents)
Supreme Court Decision (10 May 2017) which determined the meaning of ‘relevant policies
for the supply of housing’32. In summary, it was concluded that policies ‘dealing only with the
numbers and distribution of new housing’ and not policies ‘dealing generally with the
disposition or restriction of new development’ were relevant in the context of paragraphs 14
and 49 of the NPPF (2012).

11.3

In the case of the Elmbridge Local Plan only Policy CS2 ‘Housing Provision’ was therefore
determined as being out of date and hence the application of Policy CS21 continued to be
applied where relevant, taking into account the weight to attach to a conflict with the policies
of the Development Plan which affect the supply of housing, when performing that balance,
in light of an overall shortfall in the supply of housing land. Again, the weight to be applied
was determined by the decision-maker. In the Council’s case this took into account:
• the degree of the housing shortfall;
• the steps being taken to make up the shortfall;
• the acknowledged constraints on meeting the OAN in Elmbridge Borough (e.g. Green
Belt);
• the important function of policy CS21 to meet paragraph 50 NPPF (2012); and
• the local circumstances and evidence which justifies seeking contributions from schemes
of 10 or fewer units notwithstanding the PPG and WMS.

11.4

In terms of 5 year housing land supply, the Council’s position remains that, as required by
paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2018), it is unable to identify sufficient housing land supply
measured against both the OAHN as set out in the Kingston & North East Surrey SHMA and
the Government’s draft Standardised Methodology33. As show in Figure 2 below, this means
that ‘the policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date’
and that the presumption in favour of sustainable development should be applied unless, in
the stated restricted circumstances (points d(i) and d(ii)).

32

Suffolk Coastal District Council (Appellant) v Hopkins Homes Ltd and another (Respondents) Supreme
Court Decision (10 May 2017) https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/docs/uksc-2016-0076-judgment.pdf
33 The Council is also unlikely to meet the requirements of the Housing Delivery Test as required by the
NPPF.

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 31

Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
For decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan
without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed;
or
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.
Figure 2: Abstract from paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2018)

11.5

Reference in paragraph 11 of the NPPF to ‘policies which are most important for determining
the applications’ effectively negates part of the Supreme Court's decision in Suffolk Coastal
and brings into play arguments as to what policies are determinative for the application and
whether they are out of date. Again this is for the consideration of the decision-maker.

11.6

The Council will consider this point on a case by case basis taking into account the bullet
points noted in paragraph 11.3 alongside other relevant policies set out in the NPPF (see
Section 12 below). If it is considered that Policy CS21 is a policy which is most important for
determining an application and, in the absence of a 5-year housing land supply (and
requirements of the Housing Delivery Test), the policy will be deemed out of date and
subsequently the titled balance will be applied.

Other NPPF considerations
12.1

As set out in paragraph 3 of the NPPF, the Framework should be read as a whole (including
its footnotes and annexes). In this context, the following NPPF policies are also relevant in
regard to the Council’s continued application Policy CS21 on a case by case basis:
• paragraph 59 of the NPPF which states that within the context of significantly boosting the
supply of homes, ‘it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come
forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing
requirements are addressed and that land with permission is developed without
unnecessary delay’ (Council’s emphasis).
• paragraph 61 which states ‘… the size, type and tenure of housing needed for different
groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in planning policies (including,
but not limited to, those who require affordable housing…’
• paragraph 62 which states ‘where a need for affordable housing is identified, planning
policies should specify the type of affordable housing required, and expect it to be on-site
unless a) off-site provision or an appropriate financial contribution in lieu can be robustly
justified…’

12.2

Furthermore, whilst relating to plan-making, paragraph 3 of the NPPF states that general
reference to planning policies in the Framework should be applied in a way that is
appropriate to the type of plan being produced, having regard to policy on plan-making in
Chapter 3. In regards to developer contributions, chapter 3 of the NPPF (paragraph 43)
states that a ‘plan should set out the contributions expected from development’. This should

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 32

include setting out the levels and types of affordable housing provision required, along with
other infrastructure (such as that needed for education, health, transport, flood and water
management, green and digital infrastructure). Such policies should not undermine the
deliverability of the plan’.
12.3

As set out in Section 9 of this Statement, a review of the viability evidence demonstrates that
the application of Policy CS21 remains a realistic approach and that the principle of the
policy does not undermine the overall viability of individual development schemes or the
deliverability of the plan.

The approach of other Local Planning Authorities
13.1

Other Local Planning Authorities also continue to consider on a case by case basis whether
local circumstances exist within their area to justify the collection of affordable housing
contributions on small sites. Two such authorities neighbour Elmbridge Borough, namely the
London Borough of Richmond upon Thames and Epsom & Ewell Borough Council. Others
further afield include South Cambridgeshire District Council, the New Forest District Council,
and the London Boroughs of Camden and Islington. All London Boroughs referred to above
feature in Table 1 alongside Elmbridge Borough.

Conclusion
14.1

Without the ability to collect affordable housing contributions on small sites the Council will
limit its capacity to support the delivery of affordable units in the Borough whether through
onsite provision or using affordable housing contributions that support the delivery of
affordable housing by other means e.g. the Affordable Housing Enabling Fund.

14.2

Policy CS21 has clearly not negatively impacted on development coming forward on small
sites. As outlined above, it is evident that such sites remain a significant source of new
housing within the Borough. The Council has ensured that the contributions collected on
small sites are not disproportionate through a viability review of its approach (October 2018)
and via the use of viability assessments on all developments where applicants consider the
contributions to make the development unviable. This enables the Council to reduce or
waive any contribution on the basis of viability in accordance with local and national policy.

14.3

The Council needs to comply with both the Government’s policy on delivering development
on previously developed land and continue to deliver affordable units as required under
paragraphs 59, 61 and 62 of the NPPF. To achieve this, the Council must consider on a
case by case basis whether local circumstances with regard to affordable housing and the
nature of the development sites in the Borough are sufficient to warrant the application of
CS21 or whether greater weight should be attached to the NPPF.

14.4

The Council will therefore continue to consider Policy CS21 Affordable Housing as part of
the decision making process for any relevant application. Where applicants consider that the
charge is disproportionate the Council will request that the relevant information setting out
scheme viability is submitted for independent assessment as set out in our Developer
Contributions SPD.

14.5

Applicants will also be encouraged to set out why the application of Policy CS21 is
considered to be disproportionate in relation to the applicant’s circumstances. All relevant
evidence will then be considered on a case by case basis and be used to assess the weight
to be attached to local and national policies.

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 33

Planning Policy Team, Planning Services
Elmbridge Borough Council
planning.policy@elmbridge.gov.uk

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 34

Appendix 1 – Planning Appeal
Appeal decisions whereby the Planning Inspectorate has agreed with the Council’s continuation to apply Policy
CS21:
Information about the cases including copies of the appeal decision can be found via the planning application number
links.
Planning
Application
Number

Address

Appeal
Decision
Date

Appeal Reference

2015/3640

26 The Avenue, Claygate, Esher,
Surrey KT10 0RY

12/08/2016

APP/K3605/W/16/3146699

2016/0813

Charters, Cavendish Road,
Weybridge, Surrey KT13 0JN

22/11/2016

APP/K3605/W/16/3156265

2016/0122

29 Burwood Park Road, Hersham,
Walton-on-Thames KT12 5LH

25/11/2016

APP/K3605/W/16/3156943

2015/2589

3 Gordon Road, Claygate, Esher
KT10 0PJ

05/12/2016

APP/K3605/W/16/3154395

2016/1709

Kings Yard, Kings Road, Long Ditton,
Surbiton KT6 5JE

02/02/2017

APP/K3605/W/16/3159613

2016/0471

37 Southdown Road, Hersham KT12
4PP

03/02/2017

APP/K3605/W/16/3160775

2016/2871

Land at 72 Portmore Park Road,
Weybridge KT13 8HG

21/04/2017

APP/K3605/W/16/3163555

2016/0992

15 Portsmouth Road, Thames Ditton,
Surrey KT7 0SY

05/05/2017

APP/K3605/W/16/3160272

2016/2280

Claremont House, 34 Molesey Park
Road, Hersham, Walton-on-Thames
KT12 4RQ

30/05/2107

APP/K3605/W/17/3167461

2016/1555

Land to the rear of 47-49 Bridge
Road, East Molesey KT8 9ER

13/06/2017

APP/K3605/W/16/3165031

2015/2176

Land to the rear of 255-259 Hersham
Road, Hersham, Walton-on-Thames
KT12 5PZ

16/06/2017

APP/K3605/W/16/3160470

2016/0781

38 Rosehill, Claygate, Esher KT10
0HL

16/06/2017

APP/K3605/W/16/3161055

2016/3204

13A Station Avenue, Walton-onThames KT12 1NF

12/07/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3170237

2016/3374

Land to the side of 50 Primrose
Road, Primrose Road, Hersham,
Walton-on- Thames KT12 5JD

12/07/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3167882

2016/1628

115 Thorkhill Road, Thames Ditton
KT7 0UW

14/07/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3168617

2015/2059

8 High Street, Walton-on-Thames,
Surrey KT12 1DA

24/07/2017

APP/K3605/W/16/3163928

2016/2822

28-30 High Street, Weybridge KT13
8AB

01/08/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3170332

2016/3250

Wessex, South Road, Weybridge
KT13 9DZ

01/08/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3174279

2016/3339

70 Baker Street, Weybridge KT13
8AL

04/08/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3166743

2016/3783

Land north-west of 39 Lovelace
Road, Long Ditton, Surbiton, Surrey,
KT6 6NZ

17/08/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3170775

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 35

2016/2576

Plot 4, Embercourt Road, Thames
Ditton, Surrey KT7 0LQ

18/08/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3167270

2016/3977

Car park site, rear of Bridge Road,
East Molesey, Surrey KT8 9ER

18/08/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3169210

2016/2364

Land to rear of 74 to 128 Speer
Road, Thames Ditton KT7 0PP

31/08/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3172080

2016/2678

20 Russet Close, Hersham, Waltonon-Thames KT12 4QJ

31/08/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3174860

2016/2066

67 St Mary’s Road, Long Ditton,
Surbiton KT6 5HB

01/09/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3170220

2016/3422

Prince of Wales, 11 Cross Road,
Weybridge, Surrey, KT13 9NX

06/10/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3167961

2017/0184

46 Molesey Park Road, West
Molesey KT8 2JZ

13/12/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3182479

2017/0554

The Wellington, 60 High Street,
Walton-on-Thames KT12 1BY

12/12/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3179698

2017/1565

28a Green Lane, Hersham, Waltonon-Thames, Surrey KT12 5HD

15/12/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3180558

2017/0568

Childs Play Centre, Manor Road,
Walton-on-Thames KT12 2PH

08/01/2018

APP/K3605/W/17/3179815

2016/3758

Beechcroft and Tall Timbers and land
to the rear as shown on the Title Plan
SY790622, Field Common Lane,
Walton on Thames KT12 3QH

19/01/2018

APP/K3605/W/17/3171756

2017/0436

Rear of 1 Park Road, East Molesey
KT8 9LD

31/01/2018

APP/K3605/W/17/3180413

2017/1328

45 Pelhams Walk, Esher, KT10 8QA

09/02/2018

APP/K3605/W/17/3188300

2016/3994

Land South of 15 Queens Drive,
Thames Ditton KT7 0TJ

12/02/2018

APP/K3605/W/17/3184426

2017/1646

Land Adjacent to 20 Holstein Avenue,
Weybridge KT13 8NX

14/02/2018

APP/K3605/W/17/3187232

2016/1195

20-22 Castleview Road, Weybridge
KT13 9AB

19/02/2018

APP/K3605/W/17/3178538

2017/2101

8 West Grove, Hersham, Walton-onThames KT12 5NX

01/03/2018

APP/K3605/W/17/3187926

2017/0133

21 Castleview Road, Weybridge
KT13 9AB

20/03/2018

APP/K3605/W/17/3181617

2017/1966

Land southwest of Arenella,
Mountview Road, Claygate, Esher,
Surrey KT10 0UD

24/05/2018

APP/K3605/W/18/3195774

2017/2574

15 Eaton Park Road, Cobham,
Surrey KT11 2JJ

24/05/2018

APP/K3605/W/18/3192667

2017/2812

9 Princes Drive, Oxshott,
Leatherhead, Surrey KT22 0UL

24/05/2018

APP/K3605/W/18/3193874

2017/2816

No.38 (Chenies) and No.41 (Chantry)
Twinoaks, Cobham KT11 2QW

17/07/2018

APP/K3605/W/18/3197265

2017/2433

11 Oakfield Glade, Weybridge KT13
9DP

18/07/2018

APP/K3605/W/17/3188993

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 36

Appeal decisions where the Planning Inspectorate has given more weight to the Government’s WMS and changes
to PPG (now embedded in the NPPF):
Information about the cases including copies of the appeal decision can be found via the planning application number
links.
Planning
Address
Appeal Decision
Appeal Reference & Link
Application
Date
Number
2015/0589

April Cottage, Queens Road,
Weybridge, Surrey KT13 0AU

07/07/2016

APP/K3605/W/15/3129629

2015/2032

April Cottage, Queens Road,
Weybridge, Surrey KT13 0AU

07/07/2016

APP/K3605/W/15/3132227

2015/3384

April Cottage, Queens Road,
Weybridge, Surrey KT13 0AU

07/07/2016

APP/K3605/W/16/3142140

2016/0380

53 & 53A The Furrows, Waltonon-Thames, Surrey KT12 3JG
Touchwood, 9 Broom Close,
Esher, Surrey KT10 9ET

31/08/2016

APP/K3605/W/16/3150955

08/09/2016

APP/K3605/W/16/3149477

22/09/2016

APP/K3605/W/16/3151802

27/10/2016

APP/K3605/W/16/3153965

11/05/2017

APP/K3605/W/16/3164197

11/05/2017

APP/K3605/W/16/3164143

11/05/2017

APP/K3605/W/16/3163557

11/05/2017

APP/K3605/W/16/3164019

05/07/2017

APP/K3605/W/16/3166135

03/10/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3179354

29/09/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3178213

13/12/2017

APP/K3605/W/17/3181923

2015/3014
2015/4401

2016/0638

2016/1260
2016/1963

2016/2230
2016/2544
2016/1677
2017/0346
2016/3470

2016/4076

Land to rear of 4 and 4a Castle
View Road, Weybridge, Surrey
KT13 9AB
Land adjacent to 20 Holstein
Avenue, Weybridge, Surrey KT13
8NX
16 Holroyd Road, Claygate, Esher
KT10 0LG
Esher Tyre and Exhaust, The
Broadway, Thames Ditton, Surrey
KT7 0LU
Princes Cottages, Leatherhead
Road, Oxshott KT22 0EX
14 Burwood Road, Hersham,
Walton-on-Thames KT12 4AG
12 Littleworth Common Road,
Esher, Surrey KT10 9UE
89 West End Lane, Esher KT10
8LF
Land to the west of 4 Thistlecroft
Road, Hersham, Walton-onThames KT12 5QZ
11 Oakfield Glade, Weybridge
KT13 9DP

Produced by Planning Services

November 2018

Page 37

This page is intentionally left blank

